IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CRC 8.25(b)

JOSE M. SANDOVAL, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 15 2019

v.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

QUALCOMM INCORPORATED,

Defendant and Appellant.

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE No. D070431

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

STEPHEN E. NORRIS (BAR No. 104753)
JASON R. LITT (BAR No. 163743)
*JOSHUA C. McDANIEL (BAR No. 286348)
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR
BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592
snorris@horvitzlevy.com
jlitt@horvitzlevy.com
jmcdaniel@horvitzlevy.com

WINGERT GREBING BRUBAKER & JUSKIE LLP

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether a hirer of an independent contractor may be liable to a contractor's employee under a retained control theory based solely on the hirer's failure to undertake measures to ensure the safety of the contractor's employees, where the hirer did not direct the contractor's work, induce the contractor's reliance, or otherwise affirmatively interfere with the contractor's delegated responsibility to provide a safe worksite.
- 2. Whether the statewide pattern jury instruction on hirer retained control liability, CACI No. 1009B, should be judicially corrected because it omits the "affirmative contribution" element required by this Court in *Hooker v. Department of Transportation* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198 (*Hooker*), creating havoc and inconsistency in the lower courts.

INTRODUCTION

When a property owner hires a contractor, the hirer delegates to the contractor responsibility for ensuring a safe worksite. This rule—known as the *Privette* doctrine—bars contractors and their employees from suing the hirer for injuries sustained on the job. (See *Privette v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 (*Privette*).) In *Hooker*, this Court recognized a narrow exception to *Privette*'s general rule: a hirer may be liable for negligently exercising retained control over worksite safety, but only "insofar as a hirer's exercise of retained control affirmatively contributed to the employee's injuries." (*Hooker*, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 202.)

Despite Hooker's requirement of affirmative contribution, the Court of Appeal here held that a hirer may be liable for a simple "failure to act," thus erroneously equating omission with affirmative conduct. On that basis, the court upheld an improper jury verdict against Qualcomm without any evidence that Qualcomm directed the contractor's work, induced the contractor's reliance, or in any way interfered with the contractor's delegated responsibility to provide a safe worksite. In fact, it was the contractor here who intentionally created the hazard after Qualcomm's team had left the worksite. This Court should restore the balance struck by Hooker and reaffirm that when it said "affirmative," it meant "affirmative."

The key facts have never been in dispute. Qualcomm hired TransPower, a licensed and highly experienced electrical contractor, to upgrade electrical parts on a switchgear at Qualcomm's San Diego campus. TransPower's principal, Frank Sharghi, then hired plaintiff Jose M. Sandoval to help him inspect parts inside just one of the switchgear's compartments, the compartment housing a circuit known as the main cogeneration (cogen) circuit.

In preparation for the inspection, a Qualcomm crew properly deenergized the main cogen circuit. Other circuits in the switchgear remained live, but they were encased in separate compartments, each with a bolted-on protective cover. With his decades of experience working on this very switchgear, Sharghi already knew precisely which circuits remained live. Even so, a Qualcomm engineer explained to him which enclosed circuits were still live and which were not. The Qualcomm team then left the room, fully delegating the jobsite to Sharghi and his team. At that point, any exposed surface in the room could be safely touched with bare hands.

Sharghi, on his own, then did the unthinkable. Without informing either Sandoval or Qualcomm, he instructed one of his workers to go to the back of the switchgear and remove the bolted-on cover over the GF-5 circuit—a live 4,160-volt circuit—so Sharghi could take better photographs for a prior, unrelated job. Sandoval then approached the exposed live circuit with a metal tape measure, not knowing what Sharghi had done, and triggered an arc flash. No one from Qualcomm was in the room during these events.

This case should have never gone to trial because there was no evidence that Qualcomm affirmatively contributed to Sharghi's unilateral decision to create an unsafe jobsite, or that Qualcomm prevented Sharghi from taking measures to protect Sandoval from the hazard he had created. Even so, the trial court denied summary judgment by finding a triable issue of fact on affirmative contribution, but then refused to give the jury any instruction on affirmative contribution. After the jury returned a verdict against Qualcomm, the trial court also denied Qualcomm's motion for JNOV.

The Court of Appeal affirmed, holding that affirmative contribution simply means causation and can be satisfied by any "failure to act." (Sandoval v. Qualcomm Inc. (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 381, 417 (Sandoval), review granted Jan. 16, 2019, S252796.) The court opined that Qualcomm had a duty to warn Sandoval personally that the circuit Sharghi would later expose was live (warning Sharghi was not enough) and on that basis refused to reverse the denial of Qualcomm's JNOV motion.

The Court of Appeal's decision must be reversed because it eviscerates *Hooker*'s critical distinction between affirmative conduct and mere omission. The *Privette* doctrine makes clear that, as a matter of law, a hirer delegates any responsibility for ensuring a safe worksite to its contractor, and that delegation includes any duty to warn the contractor's employees about worksite hazards known to the contractor, especially those *created* by the contractor. (*Kinsman v. Unocal Corp.* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 659, 674-675 (*Kinsman*).) The narrow exception established by *Hooker* applies only when the hirer interferes, "'by direction, induced reliance, or other affirmative conduct," and thereby prevents the contractor

from providing a safe workplace. (Hooker, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 209, emphasis added.) No such evidence exists here. By ruling that affirmative contribution need not involve any affirmative act, the Court of Appeal nullifies Hooker—and effectively broadens the retained control exception to the point of vitiating Privette's general rule of hirer nonliability.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision with directions to enter JNOV in Qualcomm's favor. Alternatively, at a bare minimum, the Court should remand for a new trial based on the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on *Hooker*'s key requirement. Whichever way the Court rules, it should clarify that the CACI jury instruction on retained control should be revised to reflect *Hooker*'s clear mandate that a hirer's mere failure to act to ensure the safety of the contractor's employees is not a basis for liability.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The accident

In 2013, Qualcomm hired TransPower, an electrical contractor, to upgrade electrical switchgear parts at a power plant on its San Diego campus. (7 RT 571-572; 8 RT 658, 713.) Sharghi, TransPower's president, had decades of experience as a licensed electrical engineer and had worked on Qualcomm's switchgear hundreds of times. (7 RT 562, 565-566, 570, 574; 8 RT 658.)

Qualcomm's switchgear powers the company's facilities from two sources—utility power and power generated by onsite turbines. (7 RT 569.) The switchgear itself consists of bus bars, which conduct the electricity, and a series of large circuit breakers, which can be selectively disengaged (or "racked out") to control where the electricity flows and, if desired, to switch between the two power sources. (10 RT 928, 930, 1007-1009.) The switchgear's components are housed in a lineup of tall metal compartments (referred to at trial as "cabinets," "cubicles," or "cells"), each with a bolted-on protective cover on the front and back sides. (6 RT 401; 7 RT 421; 10 RT 955; see 2 AA 383 [photo of back of switchgear showing the rear covers to the adjacent main cogen and GF-5 compartments], 403 [photo of front of switchgear with the main cogen front cover hinged open].) The bus bars for each circuit have a line side (reached from the back of each compartment) and a load side (reached from the front). (7 RT 524; 8 RT 644-645.)

Before Sharghi could make the upgrades, he needed to verify whether the main cogen circuit's bus bars could handle additional amperage (2,000 amps, up from 1,200). (7 RT 572-573.) Weeks earlier, he had attempted the inspection, but he could find only the circuit's line-side bus bars. (8 RT 641.) So Sharghi asked Sandoval, a technician with ROS Electrical Supply & Equipment (ROS), to help him in a second inspection. (*Ibid.*; 11 RT 1148.) Sandoval was not an engineer, but he had worked with Sharghi for many years and had the expertise to show Sharghi how to find the load-side bus bars. (7 RT 575-578; 8 RT 641-642.)

Sharghi asked Qualcomm to allow him to do the second inspection on August 3, because he knew the main cogen circuit (but not other circuits) would be powered off that day for a scheduled partial shutdown. (7 RT 580, 582; 9 RT 796, 800.) When

Qualcomm authorized the inspection, the approved work request limited the inspection's scope to the main cogen compartment. (7 RT 449, 597; see 8 RT 659; 4 AA 796.) Sharghi understood Qualcomm had not authorized him to expose other nearby enclosed circuits, which he knew would remain live because the switchgear would still be on utility power. (7 RT 582, 597; 8 RT 670.)

On the morning of the inspection, Sharghi and Sandoval met with Omid Sharghi (Frank Sharghi's son) and TransPower employee George Guadana at the power plant. (7 RT 592; 8 RT 721.) After arriving, the four attended a briefing in which Qualcomm engineer Mark Beckelman told everyone, including Sandoval, that certain portions of the switchgear would remain live. (7 RT 551; 8 RT 721-723, 752-753; 4 AA 832.)

Beckelman and two other Qualcomm engineers then deenergized the main cogen circuit. Following a step-by-step plan, they racked out the necessary breakers and locked and tagged out the main cogen breaker (a safety procedure that ensures the circuit cannot be reenergized). (7 RT 594-596; 8 RT 730.) As they did so, Sharghi closely observed to make sure "they [didn't] miss anything." (7 RT 595.) After testing with a voltage meter to confirm the main cogen circuit was dead, Beckelman explained to Sharghi "where the safe zone and where the no-safe zone was." (8 RT 737; see 8 RT 664, 731.) But Sharghi already knew which circuits were live, having studied the schematics himself and knowing the switchgear intimately from his decades of experience working with it. (See 8 RT 626-628.)

All Qualcomm employees then left the room, leaving Sharghi in charge of the inspection. (8 RT 654-655.) Sharghi did not expect the Qualcomm team to remain in the room. (8 RT 656.) He testified that no Qualcomm monitor was necessary because he "knew what [he was] doing." (*Ibid.*)

With TransPower in control, Guadana tested the main cogen circuit himself to confirm it was dead and then attached grounding cables on the back side of the now-opened main cogen compartment to stop any residual energy from flaring up. (8 RT 637-638, 657.) Once Guadana had done so, Sandoval entered through the front side of the compartment and began his inspection. (7 RT 542-543; 8 RT 642-643.)

Sharghi then did something that, as the trial court put it, "Qualcomm had no reason to think" he would ever do. (2 AA 325.) In violation of the approved scope of work and all safety procedures, Sharghi privately instructed Guadana to go to the back side of the switchgear and use his tool to unbolt and remove the cover to the GF-5 circuit—one of the *live* circuits that Qualcomm had intentionally left safely enclosed behind the bolted-on protective cover. (7 RT 536; 8 RT 652-657.) Sharghi knew the GF-5 circuit was live, and he knew Qualcomm had never authorized him (and would not authorize him) to remove the cover of any live circuit. (8 RT 655, 670.) He chose not to tell Sandoval, Qualcomm, or anyone else he was exposing a "hot" circuit, however, because he "didn't want to scare everybody." (8 RT 667.)

The reason Sharghi ordered Guadana to expose the GF-5 circuit was because Sharghi wanted to retake photos that had not

come out clearly in a prior inspection. (8 RT 652, 669.) He admitted that the photos were just for his "own protection" (8 RT 669) and were completely "unrelated to the inspection being performed by Mr. Sandoval at the main cogen breaker" (8 RT 652).

After removing the GF-5 cover, Guadana left the live circuit exposed and walked back to the front side of the switchgear, where he saw Sandoval still inside the main cogen compartment, inspecting it. (7 RT 540-543.) When Sandoval came out, he asked Guadana to help him with something on the back side of the switchgear. (7 RT 543-545.) Sandoval handed Guadana a flashlight, walked with Guadana around the switchgear, and then approached the live GF-5 circuit with a metal tape measure in hand. (7 RT 546; 11 RT 1104; 4 AA 876-877.) Guadana shined the flashlight on the GF-5 circuit. (9 RT 866; 4 AA 876-877.)

As Guadana illuminated the electrified circuit, Sandoval began to extend his tape measure. (4 AA 876-877.) The tape measure triggered a big bang and an arc flash, causing Sandoval to sustain serious burns. (*Ibid.*; 11 RT 1128.)

B. The proceedings

Sandoval sued TransPower and Qualcomm (and his own employer), asserting negligence and premises liability claims. (1 AA 17-22, 35-40.) Qualcomm then moved for summary judgment, invoking the *Privette* doctrine, but the trial court denied the motion, finding a triable issue whether Qualcomm "affirmatively contributed" to the accident. (1 AA 33.)

Before jury selection, Qualcomm objected to CACI No. 1009B, the pattern jury instruction on hirer retained control, because it lacked the affirmative contribution element required by *Hooker* (the very element on which the trial court had denied summary judgment). (1 AA 54.) Qualcomm proposed several instructions to remedy the issue, ranging from a modified version of the CACI instruction that would require the jury to find that Qualcomm "affirmatively contributed" to the accident to several proposed definitions of "affirmative contribution." (1 AA 216, 222-232.) The trial court rejected all of Qualcomm's proposals. (3 RT 123-125; 4 RT 180.)

On Sandoval's premises liability claim, however, the trial court agreed that this Court's decision in *Kinsman* required the court to instruct the jury that Qualcomm had no duty to warn Sandoval of a hazard known to TransPower. (3 RT 134-135, 142-143, 150.) Sandoval promptly withdrew his premises liability claim against Qualcomm (see 4 RT 174), but then elicited opinion testimony at trial that Qualcomm owed a duty to warn (e.g., 9 RT 844-845, 856-857, 885-887, 890). In closing argument, Sandoval argued that the jury should hold Qualcomm liable under the retained control theory because it did not inform each person in the switchgear room "what was hot and what was not." (13 RT 1517.) Sandoval also argued that Qualcomm should be liable for not requiring Sandoval to wear protective gear and for not supervising the inspection to prevent TransPower from doing "something stupid." (13 RT 1498, 1512-1513.)

A divided jury (voting 10 to 2) found Qualcomm liable (and 46 percent at fault, compared to TransPower's 45 percent and Sandoval's 9 percent) and awarded more than \$7 million in damages. (15 RT 1631; 1 AA 184-187.) Qualcomm moved for JNOV and a new trial.

In the JNOV motion, Qualcomm argued that Sandoval's retained control claim failed because there was no evidence that Qualcomm affirmatively contributed to the accident by directing TransPower, inducing TransPower's reliance, or interfering with TransPower's responsibility to provide a safe worksite. (1 AA 236-250.) In the new trial motion, Qualcomm argued that the trial court erred by rejecting any instruction on affirmative contribution, and at a minimum should grant a limited retrial based on the jury's allocation of more fault to Qualcomm (46 percent) than to TransPower (45 percent). (1 AA 204-206, 212-214.)

The trial court denied JNOV and a full new trial but granted a limited new trial on allocation of fault. (2 AA 317-320.) Qualcomm appealed the first two rulings, arguing it was entitled to JNOV, or at least a full new trial based on the instructional error.

Starting with the instructional-error issue, the Court of Appeal relied on its own recent decision holding that "CACI No. 1009B is an accurate statement of the law." (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at p. 417, citing Regalado v. Callaghan (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 582 (Regalado).) Like Regalado," the court read the

¹ No petition for review was filed in *Regalado*.

term "affirmatively contributed" in *Hooker* to simply "require causation between the hirer's retained control and the plaintiff's resulting injury." (*Sandoval*, at p. 417.) There was thus no need, the court concluded, to instruct the jury on "the requirement in *Hooker*" that "a defendant must have 'affirmatively contributed' to a plaintiff's injury." (*Ibid.*)

Turning then to Qualcomm's JNOV argument, the court relied on CACI No. 1009B—which it had just concluded did not require an affirmative contribution element—and asked whether there was substantial evidence to meet each of the instruction's elements. (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at pp. 417-420.) As a result, the court did not address whether there was any evidence of affirmative contribution, the sole issue on which the trial court had denied Qualcomm's motion for summary judgment. Indeed, no form of the words "affirmative contribution" appears in the court's JNOV analysis. (See *ibid*.)

On the instruction's first element—whether Qualcomm exercised retained control over worksite safety—the court found that although Qualcomm "was not responsible for the actual inspection of the main cogen breaker," Qualcomm was "responsible to ensure the switchgear was in an electr[ically] safe condition before that inspection went forward." (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at pp. 417-418.) But the court found no evidence that Qualcomm failed in that task. To the contrary, the court acknowledged, Sharghi admitted "the equipment was in an electr[ically] safe condition." (Id. at p. 389.) The court also affirmed the trial judge's finding that, once Qualcomm completed the

lockout-tagout, "'all of the components in the switchgear room could be touched with bare hands because they were either deenergized or covered by a panel.'" (*Id.* at p. 422.)

Even so, the court found that Qualcomm negligently exercised its retained control because it did not warn Sandoval (as opposed to Sharghi) which safely shielded components were live when it turned the worksite over to TransPower:

Although Beckelman during the safety briefing told everyone, including Sandoval, that certain segments of the switchgear remained energized and later, after the lockout/tagout procedure, used his hand to show Sharghi which breakers remained energized and which were de-energized, there is no record evidence that Beckelman specifically gave Sandoval this information once they were all inside the mezzanine.

(Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at p. 418.) "[T]his evidence alone," the court found, was substantial evidence requiring denial of JNOV. (*Ibid.*)

In holding that Qualcomm had a duty to warn Sandoval, the court relied on testimony by Qualcomm facilities manager Kirk Redding that he thought the Qualcomm crew should inform everyone which circuits were live, and testimony by Sandoval's expert, Brad Avrit, opining that National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) standards required Qualcomm to do so. (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.4th at p. 418.) Qualcomm's expert explained, however, that the NFPA standard explicitly states that Qualcomm had a duty to warn only Sharghi (who, in turn, had a duty to warn Sandoval). (Id. at p. 405.) In evaluating the opinion testimony, the court concluded that it had to defer to the jury's

implied findings on the effect of the opinion testimony because "it is not our role as a court of review to reweigh the evidence." (*Id.* at pp. 418-419.)² The court did not address Qualcomm's arguments that duty is a question of law and that under *Privette* and *Hooker* any tort duty to warn Sandoval was delegated to Sharghi.

Thus, without citing or addressing this Court's holdings in Hooker or Kinsman, or the dozen or more on-point Court of Appeal decisions cited by Qualcomm, the Court of Appeal held that Qualcomm's failure to warn Sandoval personally which components were live satisfied CACI No. 1009B's elements and on that basis affirmed the denial of Qualcomm's JNOV motion. (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at pp. 417-420.)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that NFPA 70E section 110.1 states that the "'host employer'" (Qualcomm) must inform the "'contractor employers'" (such as Sharghi) about known hazards, and it is the *contractor* who must "'ensure that each of [its] employees is instructed in the hazards communicated to [it] by the host employer.'" (Sandoval, supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at p. 405.)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

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