S252796

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

JOSE M. SANDOVAL, Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

JUL 11 2019

V.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

QUALCOMM, INC., Defendant, Appellant and Cross-Respondent.

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO. D070431 JUDGE JOEL WOHLFEIL, CASE NO. 37-2014-00012901-CU-PO-CTL

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THON BECK VANNI CALLAHAN & POWELL

Daniel P. Powell, SBN 82686 Michael P. O'Connor, SBN 207277 1100 East Green Street Pasadena, California 91106

Telephone: (626) 795-8333 Email: dpowell@thonbeck.com moconnor@thonbeck.com

ESNER, CHANG & BOYER

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

ARGUMENT

I. WHERE, AS HERE, THE HIRER OF AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RETAINS CONTROL OF PREPARING THE WORKSITE SO THAT THE CONTRACTOR CAN PERFORM ITS SERVICES AND WHERE IT AFFIRMATIVELY EXERCISES THAT CONTROL IN A NEGLIGENT MANNER CAUSING AN EMPLOYEE HARM, HOOKER'S AFFIRMATIVE CONTRIBUTION STANDARD IS SATISFIED.

This Court has framed the first issue being reviewed as follows: "Can a company that hires an independent contractor be liable in tort for injuries sustained by the contractor's employee based solely on the company's negligent failure to undertake safety measures or is more affirmative action required to implicate *Hooker v. Department of Transportation* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198?"

As explained below, where, as here, the hirer does not delegate certain work necessary for the contractor to perform its work, then the hirer must perform that work in a non-negligent manner, which includes undertaking certain safety measures which are necessary to render the hirer's conduct reasonably safe.

Contrary to the manner Qualcomm frames its issue (which is different than how the Court has framed the issue) it is not necessary for the hirer to always direct the contractor's work, induce the contractor's reliance or otherwise interfere with the contractor's delegated responsibility to provide a safe worksite. While those are also instances in which *Hooker* is satisfied, they are not required where the hirer has elected not to delegate a certain necessary task to the contractor and the employee is injured due to

the negligent manner in which the hirer has performed that non-delegated task.

As further explained, even under Qualcomm's standard, the trial court correctly denied JNOV and the Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the judgment.

A. Hooker's "Affirmative Contribution" Standard.

In *Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th 198, the widow of a deceased crane operator who had been employed by a general contractor hired by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) to construct an overpass sued Caltrans for negligently exercising its retained control over safety conditions at the jobsite. (Id. at p. 202.) The Caltrans construction manual provided Caltrans was responsible for obtaining the contractor's compliance with safety laws and regulations, and Caltrans's onsite engineer had the power to shut the project down because of safety conditions and to remove employees of the contractor for failing to comply with safety regulations. (*Id.* at pp. 202–203.) The crane operator retracted the crane's outriggers to allow Caltrans vehicles and other construction vehicles to use the narrow overpass. (*Id.* at pp. 202, 214.) When the crane operator then attempted to operate the crane without reextending the outriggers, the crane tipped over and the operator was killed. (Id. at p. 202.) The plaintiff alleged Caltrans was negligent in permitting traffic to use the overpass while the crane was being operated. (*Id.* at pp. 202–203, 214–215.)

The court found the plaintiff had raised triable issues of material fact as to whether Caltrans retained control over safety conditions at the worksite, but not as to whether Caltrans actually exercised the retained control so as to affirmatively contribute to the death of the plaintiff's husband. (*Hooker*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 202, 215.) The court stated: "

'[A] general contractor owes no duty of care to an employee of a subcontractor to prevent or correct unsafe procedures or practices to which the contractor did not contribute by direction, induced reliance, or other affirmative conduct. The mere failure to exercise a power to compel the subcontractor to adopt safer procedures does not, without more, violate any duty owed to the plaintiff....' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 209.)

However, the *Hooker* Court stated, that an omission may constitute an affirmative contribution in some circumstances: "[A]ffirmative contribution need not always be in the form of actively directing a contractor or contractor's employee. There will be times when a hirer will be liable for its omissions. For example, if the hirer promises to undertake a particular safety measure, then the hirer's negligent failure to do so should result in liability if such negligence leads to an employee injury." (*Id.* at p. 212, fn. 3.)

Applying these standards, the *Hooker* Court found that, although Caltrans permitted vehicles to use the overpass while the crane was being operated, and the operator had a practice of retracting the outriggers to permit traffic to pass, Caltrans did not direct the crane operator to adopt that practice. (*Hooker*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 214–215.) Under those circumstances, the court held there was no evidence Caltrans affirmatively contributed to the crane operator's death. (*Id.* at p. 215.) Instead, "[t]here was, at most, evidence that Caltrans's safety personnel were aware of an unsafe practice and failed to exercise the authority they retained to correct it." (*Ibid.*)

Qualcomm's argument hinges on a misunderstanding as to what this Court held in *Hooker*. According to Qualcomm, this Court "explained that just as the hirer in *Kinney* was not liable for exercising 'a high degree of control over safety conditions at the job site'. . . ." (OB 25.) That is not what this Court said. Rather, the passage Qualcomm references provides in

full: "although the hirer in theory retained a high degree of control over safety conditions at the jobsite, there was no indication the hirer contributed to the accident by affirmative exercise of control." (27 Cal.4th at p. 211.) Thus, what plaintiff submits this Court was saying is that the mere right to control safety at the jobsite is generally not sufficient if the hirer does not actually exercise that control to create an unsafe condition that causes the plaintiff harm. Plaintiff is not arguing to the contrary here.

B. Under Hooker – And Contrary To Qualcomm's Position –
It Is Not Necessary For The Hirer To Direct The
Contractor's Work, Induce The Contractor's Reliance Or
Otherwise Interfere With The Contractor's Delegated
Responsibility To Provide A Safe Worksite.

Qualcomm argues that there is supposedly insufficient evidence to support liability under *Hooker's* "affirmative contribution" standard based on the misnomer that the hirer's exercise of retained control must take place while the plaintiff (employee of a contractor) is performing his or her work in order for that conduct to constitute affirmative contribution. Neither *Hooker* nor the rationale underlying *Privette*, support such a position.

First, in reaching its conclusion, this Court in *Hooker* cited favorably to the "nuanced position" taken by the Utah Supreme Court which employed an "active participation" standard. As this Court described, the Utah Court concluded that the "active participation" standard would be satisfied "if the employer is actively involved in, or asserts control over, the manner of performance of the contracted work. [Citation.] Such an assertion of control occurs, for example, when the principal employer directs that the contracted work be done by use of a certain mode or

otherwise interferes with the means and methods by which the work is to be accomplished. [Citations.]" (27 Cal.4th at p. 215.)

Significantly, however, this Court chose not to phrase its standard as "active participation" which perhaps creates the misimpression that the hirer's negligent conduct must occur while the contractor is also working. By instead using the phrase "affirmative contribution" this Court focused on whether the contractor's affirmative conduct contributed to the unsafe condition that caused the plaintiff injuries and shifted the focus away from whether that conduct occurred in unison with the contractor's work.

The *Hooker* Court then reinforced its intention in its discussion of California Court of Appeal decisions on point, continuing:

Under Kinney...mere retention of the ability to control safety conditions is not enough. "[A] general contractor owes no duty of care to an employee of a subcontractor to prevent or correct unsafe procedures or practices to which the contractor did not contribute by direction, induced reliance, or other affirmative conduct. The mere failure to exercise a power to compel the subcontractor to adopt safer procedures does not, without more, violate any duty owed to the plaintiff. Insofar as section 414 might permit the imposition of liability on a general contractor for mere failure to intervene in a subcontractor's working methods or procedures, without evidence that the general contractor affirmatively contributed to the employment of those methods or procedures, that section is inapplicable to claims by subcontractors' employees against the general contractor." (Kinney, at p. 39.)

The *Kinney* court, we conclude, correctly applied the principles of our decisions in *Privette* and *Toland*. . . .

(Id. at pp. 208-209, italics added.)

Thus, this Court was focused on ensuring that the mere retention of control would not be sufficient here (although as the Court summarized, that is enough in a number of jurisdictions). The passage of *Hooker* on which Qualcomm relies (OB 23) to assert that the hirer must direct the manner in which the contractor is performing its work, is where *Hooker*

rejected the plaintiff's argument that "by permitting traffic to use the overpass while the crane was being operated, affirmatively contributed to Mr. Hooker's death." (*Hooker*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 215.) In rejecting this assertion, the *Hooker* Court quoted language from the decision of the Utah Supreme Court relied upon by plaintiff to explain that simply permitting traffic to pass was not enough to establish "affirmative contribution." However, the Court did not hold that, in order to establish affirmative contribution, it was always necessary for the principal to actually direct the manner in which the work that ultimately injured the plaintiff is being performed.

Nowhere in *Hooker* did this Court say that when the defendant actually creates the very physical condition that causes the plaintiff's injuries, then there is still not affirmative contribution. Numerous cases illustrate that where the hirer actually creates the condition that causes the plaintiff's injuries then "affirmative contribution" is satisfied (or at least a question of fact exists). For instance, when a hirer of an independent contractor, by negligently furnishing unsafe equipment to the contractor, affirmatively contributes to the injury of an employee of the contractor, the hirer should be liable to the employee for the consequences of the hirer's own negligence." (*McKown v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 219, 225.)

Likewise, in *Tverberg v. Fillner Const., Inc.* (2012) 202 Cal.App.4th 1439, 1446 the owner ordered that certain holes be created and required the workers to conduct work nearby. Further, the owner's determination that there was no need to cover or barricade the holes was sufficient on summary judgment to allow "an inference that the [owner] affirmatively assumed the responsibility for the safety of the workers near the bollard holes, and discharged that responsibility in a negligent manner, resulting in injury." (*Id.* at 1448.)

Similarly, in *Ray v. Silverado Constructors* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1120, the employee of a road construction subcontractor died when he was hit by falling construction materials. The *Ray* Court first observed that "Given the recent decisions in *Camargo, Hooker* and *McKown*, it is clear the *Privette/Toland* rationale does not bar all direct liability actions filed by injured employees of independent contractors against property owners and general contractors. Appellant has framed a cause of action based on direct liability, not vicarious liability. That being so, it was error to grant summary judgment on the basis the *Privette/Toland* rationale precludes Appellant's action against TCA and Silverado as a matter of law." (*Id.* at p. 1129.)

C. The Rationales Underlying *Privette* Support Recognition Of A Duty Here.

The rationale underlying *Privette* further supports recognition that (1) when a hirer retains control of the premises and exercises that retained control to prepare the worksite so that the contractor could perform the task for which it was retained then (2) if that hirer performs that work negligently and an employee of the contractor is injured, the hirer may be liable.

First, the *Privette* doctrine is based "principally [on] the availability of workers' compensation" to injured employees under California's Workers' Compensation Act. (*Kinsman*, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 671.) Under the Act, "all employees are automatically entitled to recover benefits for injuries 'arising out of and in the course of the employment.'" (*Privette*, supra, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 696-697, citing Lab. Code, § 3600, subd. (a).) In relying on the availability of workers' compensation to limit hirer liability, this Court has determined that the Workers' Compensation Act

achieves many of the purposes underlying tort recovery by contractors' employees against hirers: "[i]t ensures compensation for injury by providing swift and sure compensation to employees for any workplace injury; it spreads the risk created by the performance of dangerous work to those who contract for and thus benefit from such work . . .; and it encourages industrial safety." (*Privette*, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p. 701.) Under the Workers' Compensation Act, moreover, an employee injured in a work-related accident is also assured of obtaining benefits "regardless of fault," thus assuring that injured employees will be compensated for their injury. (*Ibid.*)

This primary rationale that the cost of worker's compensation insurance is built into the contract price does not justify precluding liability here. Since Qualcomm could have delegated the task of preparing the jobsite – but did not do so – then presumably the price Qualcomm paid less than it would have been absent such a retention. In other words, the contractor (TransPower) was paid nothing to safely deenergize the switchgear room and therefore Qualcomm was not subsidizing TransPower for workers' compensation premiums for those services.

Second, because employers are shielded from negligence liability for work-related injuries to employees, *Privette* is grounded on the premise that permitting a contractor's employee to recover from a hirer for work-related injuries attributable to the contractor's conduct would lead to "the anomalous result that a nonnegligent person's liability," i.e., that of the hirer, could be "greater than that" of the contractor, whose negligence caused the employee's injuries. (*Privette*, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p. 698.) As the Court explained in *Toland*, "it would be unfair to impose liability on the hiring person when the liability of the contractor, the one primarily responsible for the worker's on-the-job injuries, is limited to providing workers' compensation." (*Toland v. Sunland Housing Group, Inc.* (1998)

18 Cal.4th 253, 267; accord, *Hooker*, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 210 ["because the liability of the contractor, the person primarily responsible for the worker's on-the-job injuries, is limited to providing workers' compensation coverage, it would be unfair to impose tort liability on the hirer . . . merely because the hirer retained the ability to exercise control over safety at the worksite"].)

That perceived unfairness doesn't exist where, as here, the hirer has not delegated to the contractor the responsibility for performing a particular task that is necessary to render the worksite safe for the contractor's employees and the hirer has negligently performed that task. Under these circumstances the hirer is being held responsible for its own affirmative negligence. There is no unfairness.

Next, this Court has stated that to allow contractors' employees to sue a hirer for negligence for work-related injuries also gives rise to an "unwarranted windfall" because other employees who are injured in work-related accidents are not permitted to bring negligence actions against their employers as a result of their work-related injuries. (*Privette*, supra, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 699-700; *Camargo v. Tjaarda Dairy* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1235, 1245 [permitting recovery against the hirer "would give employees of independent contractors an unwarranted windfall, something that is denied other workers--the right to recover tort damages for industrial injuries caused by their employer's failure to provide a safe working environment"].)

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